$_{ m IN}$	$_{ m THE}$	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA	

RANDALL SCOTT JONES,
Appellant,
vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. 72,461

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged Randall Scott Jones (hereafter Jones) with two first-degree murders, one armed robbery, a burglary of a conveyance while armed and/or with an assault, shooting or throwing a deadly missile into an occupied vehicle, second-degree grand theft, and sexual battery (R5-6). 1/2 The matter proceeded to a jury trial in the Circuit Court in and for Putnam County, the Honorable Robert R. Perry presiding. The defense presented no evidence. The jury deliberated for 45 minutes before finding Jones guilty of all counts as charged (R1650-1651,642-643).

The penalty phase was conducted four days later.

Jones moved for the use of a special verdict form for the jury to unanimously determine the presence of statutory

¹/ (R) refers to the record on appeal of the instant case.

aggravating circumstances; that motion was denied (R645-646,669). Defense counsel unsuccessfully sought to withdraw based on conflict of interest between Jones and a state's witness (Edward Tipton) (R1665). That motion to withdraw was renewed during cross-examination of Tipton by defense counsel when it was revealed that the Office of the Public Defender of the Seventh Judicial Circuit was at that time representing Tipton on charges in Volusia and Putnam Counties (R1693-1694). Defense counsel concluded "cross-examination" of Tipton by stating, "Your Honor, I cannot impeach him for the reasons which I have explained to you. I cannot cross-examine this witness with respect to the statement made in the jail for the reasons which I have explained to you, and decline to do so." (R1698)

Jones presented the testimony of a forensic psychologist and rested (R1707-1777). The jury was instructed on the following aggravating circumstances; 1) The murder was committed during the commission of a burglary or robbery; 2) the murder was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel; 3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R1822). The jury was instructed on the following mitigating factors; 1) Jones has no significant history of prior criminal activity; 2) age at the time of the crime, and: 3) any other aspect of Jones' character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense (R1823). Following approximately a half-hour of deliberations, the jury recommended by a vote of 11 to 1 that sentences of death be imposed for both murders (R1830,654).

Jones was adjudicated guilty of armed robbery, burglary of a conveyance with an assault, shooting a deadly missile into an occupied vehicle, and sexual battery (R693-694) and sentenced in conformity with the recommended guideline sanction to a nine year term of imprisonment on the armed robbery conviction, to a seven year term of imprisonment on the burglary of a conveyance while armed conviction, to a three and one-half year term of imprisonment on the shooting a deadly missile into an occupied vehicle conviction, and to a seventeen year term of imprisonment on the sexual battery conviction, all sentences to be served concurrently with credit for 261 days time served (R693-699). a separate written judgment and sentence, Jones was adjudicated quilty of two counts of first-degree murder and sentenced to death based on findings of a capital felony committed for pecuniary gain and commission of a homicide in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R685-692). No mitigating circumstances were found.

A timely notice of appeal was filed May 19, 1988 (R703-704), and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Jones for the purpose of his appeal (R702). This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Randall Jones was born May 7, 1968 (R1733). He was abandone by his mother (R1719). He thereafter lived with his father and step-mother (R1720). His behavior was indicative of having been an abused child (R1721). He exhibited classical symptoms of emotional disorders, starting fires, stealing, and lying at an early age (R1722). When 11, he was taken to a psychiatrist and hospitalized for three weeks; following a short release he was rehospitalized for nine weeks and diagnosed to be a border-line schizophrenic (R1722). He was adjudicated a dependant child, and then a delinquent child (R1722-23). In two separate IQ tests, Jones achieved scores of 108 and 118, which is the high-average range (R1719).

The diagnosis of borderline schizophrenia is now termed "border-line personality disorder". These people have an ongoing difficulty adjusting to society and, during high levels of stress, can become psychotic, lose touch with reality and lose control of impulses (R1726). Jones was honorably discharged on May 1, 1987 from the United States Army after one year of service (R585,1723). His father died early in 1987 (R1724). Jones was to have married his 18 year-old girl friend in December of 1987 (R1095), but she and Jones broke up following the death of one of her parents (R1724).

Around 11 o'clock p.m. on July 26, 1987, Jones asked a friend if he wanted to go target practicing. The friend said no and was taken home by Jones (R1084,1090). Around midnight, a fisherman leaving the Rodman Dam area was approached by two young

men and asked if he could help them with their stuck vehicle (R1119-1122). The fisherman had no tow rope or cable and so informed the boys; he also informed them that there was a four wheel drive truck in the parking lot and that perhaps they could receive help there (R1124). Around 12:30, a twelve year-old boy camping at the Rodman Dam Campground was awakened by three rapidly fired gunshots (R1108-1112). He heard tires squealing approximately a half-hour later before going to sleep (R1111).

Blood and broken glass were found in the parking area the next morning and reported to a concession worker (R1127-1129). Later that morning the same concession worker was going to a swimming area and noticed blood on the trail; she investigated and found the body of a man lying in the woods (R1133). The police were summoned and arrived at approximately 1:13 p.m. (R1139). They found the semi-nude body of a female approximately 20 feet from the male (R1162,1179-1181). Evidence was photographed hastily due to an approaching thunderstorm (R1153-1155). A torrential downpoor hit the area approximately an hour after the police arrived, and some evidence was completely washed away (R1155). A videotape of the scene was made after the rain (R1158-1159).

The male victim (Paul Block, hereafter "Brock") had been shot twice in the head (R1252-1253); either wound was instantly fatal (R1277). One bullet entered the chin, broke the floor of the mouth, broke the chin, extracted teeth in the lower jaw, went through the base of the skull and came out the left side of the head with massive destruction of the skull, whereas

the other wound appeared to have been inflicted at a tangential angle (R1259). Powder burns around the entrance wound to the chin were consi tent with the gun being fired at near-contact with the muzzle (R1255-1256), whereas the other wound was consistent with having been inflicted from a distance of greater than three to four feet unless a barrier was interposed between the firearm and the victim when the shot was fired (R1257-1258).

The female victim (Kelly Perry, hereafter "Perry") had been shot in the forehead at a distance of three to four feet (R1260). That rifle shot was also instantly fatal (R1277). A vaginal examination revealed the presence of sperm (R1263-68). A pathologist determined it most probable that the sexual activity occurred after the death of Perry (R1280). The bodies bore evidence of having been dragged along the ground at or near the time of death (R1254,1278).

On July 27, 1987 at approximately 6:50 a.m. Brock's brother saw Jones driving Brock's Chevrolet pick-up truck at a Jiffy-Mart in Green Cove Springs (R1288-93,1301). A 30-30 rifle equipped with a scope was seen by the brother inside the truck; bullet holes were in the windshield (R1290-93). Jones was questioned by Brock's brother, and Jones stated that he had just purchased the truck for four thousand dollars (R1292-93). On July 28th or 29th, 1987 Jones, still driving the truck, arrived at the Lighthouse Childrens' Home in Kosciusko, Mississippi, which is located in the center of the state approximately two hundred and fifty miles north of 1-10 (R1319-22). On August 16, 1987 Jones was arrested by a Mississippi Highway Patrol Officer

for being in possession of the stolen truck (R1326-27),
Authorities in Putnam County were notified, and two Sheriff's
Deputies responded to Mississippi to take custody of Jones. Two
statements were obtained from Jones, one written in Mississippi
when Jones was interrogated (R587-592) and the second given
orally during the trip from Mississippi to Palatka; that
statement was later reduced to writing and signed by Jones
(R594-602).

In the initial statement, Jones stated that Chris Reesh had accompanied him target practicing at the Rodman Dam area, and that when their vehicle became stuck they tried unsuccessfully to get assistance from a fisherman. They thereafter came across two people sleeping in a Chevrolet truck at the Rodman Dam area.

Jones stated he and Reesh discussed shooting the two people in the truck to obtain the vehicle, and that he (Jones) stated he wanted no part of it and commenced walking up the road; he went approximately a quarter of a mile when he heard the shots. He came running back to see what was going on and saw that Reesh had shot both people. Reesh then dragged the two victims into the woods and the truck was cleaned and used to pull out Jones' stuck vehicle. Jones thereafter took the truck and the rifle and went to Mississippi and, on the way, encountered a person in Green Cove Springs who inquired about the truck (R587-592).

In the second statement, Jones stated in the initial statement that he had reversed the roles of the people. Jones stated that he and Reesh discussed for approximately a half-hour waking the occupants of the truck and that Reesh did not like the idea of waking them up. Jones and Reesh then saw the fisherman

and went to him in an effort to get help for their stuck vehicle. When the fisherman was unable to help them, they returned to the Five or ten minutes passed. "Chris was spazzed out about waking them up. I said I was going to shoot them so we could use their truck. He said that I was crazy. This was by the boat ramp. Chris was about 20 feet away waiting when I shot through the window three times. I shot him first and his head popped up. I must have hit his chest or something and it ricocheted into the windshield. I shot again and hit him in the head. She had started moving and I shot her in the head." (R595). The bodies were removed from the truck and dragged into the woods. truck was used to get the car out of the sand, and then Reesh drove the car back toward Palatka as Jones drove the truck. When the got to within a mile of State Road 19 Jones went back to the dam and tried to put the man's body into the back of the truck; it was too heavy so Jones dragged it further into the bushes. Jones then dragged Perry's body further into the woods and had sexual intercourse with it. (R596)

While in jail, Jones told his ex-fiance' that he had shot those two people, but did not remember doing it (R1103-04). When returned to Palatka Jones cooperated fully; he accompanied detectives to the Rodman Dam area and gave a detailed explanation of what had occurred (R1675-76,1684).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT I</u>: When Jones was first arrested in Mississippi he asked the auth ritie for an attorney. Notwithstanding Jones' request, he was not provided counsel. When two Putnam County Sheriff's Deputies went to Mississippi they interrogated Jones in violation of his right to counsel and obtained statements. The statements were obtained in violation of Jones' Sixth Amendment right to counsel, and they should have been suppressed following Jones' timely motion. The convictions must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial.

<u>POINT 11</u>: Under Florida law a sexual battery cannot be committed upon a corpse. Jones timely moved to dismiss the sexual battery charge on those grounds, and the court erred in failing to grant the motion to dismiss where it is uncontested that any sexual activity by Jones occurred well after the death of Perry. The sexual battery conviction requires reversal. This requires recomputation of guideline sentences for the remaining felony convictions. Further, because their finding that Jones was guilty of sexual battery likely influenced the death recommendation, the death sentences must be vacated and the matter remanded for a new penalty proceeding.

<u>POINT 111</u>: Jones moved to have a special verdict form used during the penalty phase whereby the jury would find the applicability of statutory aggravating circumstances. That request was denied. The ruling denied Jones his Sixth Amendment

right to a jury trial because the death penalty is contingent in Florida upon the presence of at least one statutory aggravating circumstance. These aggravating circumstances are substantive elements of the crime which actually define which crimes are punishable by the death penalty. The death sentences must be reversed and the matter remanded for a new penalty phase.

POINT IV: Over objection, the court instructed the jury that, in recommending the appropriate sanction, they could consider whether these murders were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. As a matter of law, that circumstance is inapplicable. The jury reasonably based their recommendation of death entirely on this faulty consideration, and certainly it influenced their recommendation. This is especially so where the judge restricted defense counsel's closing argument that pertained to the meaning of that aggravating circumstance. The state cannot show that the erroneous giving of this particular unsupported instruction was harmless error, especially where only two other statutory aggravating circumstances were defined by the Court.

Accordingly, the death sentences must be reversed and the matter remanded for a new penalty phase.

<u>POINT V</u>: The finding that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain is unsupported by the evidence. It appears that the victims were killed as an impulsive reaction to having been rejected by the fisherman when he was asked for help. Further, it was error to allow a policeman over objection to state that he determined that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain.

Because this aggravating circumstance does not apply it should be struck and the matter remanded for resentencing before a new jury.

<u>POINT VI</u>: The finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner is speculative because the shots to the head are explainable as being the only place where the sleeping victims were exposed. The killings appear more to have been impulsive rather than carefully planned or well thought out in advance. The aggravating circumstance must be struck and the matter remanded for resentencing.

POINT VII: Jones was prevented by the Judge from arguing the consequences and appropriateness of sentences of life imprisonment. This occurred as defense counsel was addressing the manner in which the sentences could be imposed making Jones ineligible for parole for fifty years, even without consideration of the guideline sentences for the other felony convictions. Because the restriction of this relevant and proper line of argument violated the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, a new penalty phase is required.

<u>POINT VIII</u>: The death penalty in Florida is being arbitrarily and capriciously applied as a result of vague and inspecific statutory language. Decisions of this Court have not provided consistent results under the same or substantially similar facts.

Moreover, this Court has applied the wrong standard of review

concerning the presence of mitigating circumstances. Instead of consistently providing plenary review in all cases, this Court considers itself bound to an abuse of discretion standard when the jury recommends death. The death penalty statutes in Florida facially and as applied violate the Sixth, Eighth , and Fourteenth Amendments. The death sentences must be reversed and sentences of life imprisonment imposed.

<u>POINT IX</u>: Over objection, the state unnecessarily presented the testimony of four relatives of the victims. Three of those witnesses established absolutely nothing relevant. They were put before the jury over objection solely to demonstrate that the victims had a large family. The intentional injection of this improper consideration (large family of victim) by the prosecutor, over objection calls for sanctions and for a new penalty phase.

POINT X: Defense counsel sought to withdraw based on a conflict revealed just prior to the penalty phase based on joint representation of the defendant and a state witness; that motion was summarily denied. Defense counsel renewed the motion to withdraw when, on cross-examination, he learned that the state witness was also being represented by the Office of the Public Defender on charges in Putnam County. That motion also was summarily denied. The failure of the trial judge to conduct any inquiry when alerted to the conflict was error. By forcing defense counsel to defend one client by cross-examining another,

the judge placed defense counsel in diametrically opposed positions and denied the defendant effective representation of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Because the record shows that the defendant was prejudiced by the denial of his counsel's motion to withdraw, the death sentences must be reversed and the matter remanded for a new penalty phase.

<u>POINT XI</u>: Jones was absent during two critical stages of his trial. He was not present at the bench when defense counsel exercised the peremptory challenges; he was not present at the bench when the court conducted an unrecorded inquiry of a juror. The burden is on the state to demonstrate a knowing, voluntary and intentional waiver by Jones of his right to be present at those times. The state cannot do so. Accordingly, the convictions must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial.

POINT XII: The state used scientific evidence concerning DNA comparison to establish that the DNA of Jones was present in the vaginal swabbings of Perry. The scientific evidence was not in this case shown to be sufficiently reliable to permit its use. Because Jones timely objected to the use of this prejudicial evidence and because the state cannot demonstrate that the improper use was harmless error, the convictions must be reversed and the matter remanded for retrial.

<u>POINT XIII</u>: In what was an intentional ploy, the prosecutor repeatedly placed evidence before the jury that Jones showed no

remorse. When told that he could not use the word "remorse", the state recharacterized the testimony but to the same end. Timely objections and motions for mistrial were to no avail. A request for a cautionary instruction went unheeded. The use of this evidence rendered the death recommendation unreliable under the Eighth Amendment, a new penalty phase is required.

<u>POINT XIV</u>: Jones has not been adjudicated in compliance with the pertinent Florida statutes, in that his fingerprints were not affixed to the judgment. That technical error requires correction.

POINT XV: In Carawan v. State, infra, this Court held that multiple punishments are improper for discreet events arrising from a single criminal intent. Jones' intent to effect the de th of Perry and Brock are punished separately by convictions for first-degree murder; another punishment for shooting into the vehicle to accomplish that single criminal intent is duplicitous and in violation of the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. Similarly, Jones' criminal intent to take and use the truck is punished separately by a conviction and sentence for armed robbery; a separate conviction and sentence for burglary for that same criminal intent is duplicitous and in violation of the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

Accordingly, the convictions for burglary of a conveyance with an

assault and shooting into an occupied vehicle must be vacated.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS OBTAINED FROM THE DEFENDANT FOLLOWING A REQUEST FOR COUNSEL THAT WAS NOT GRANTED.

Jones was arrested in Mississippi on August 16, 1987 and charged with receiving stolen property (R1326,1339). Jones exercised his right to remain silent and asked $\frac{2}{}$ for an attorney when first arrested (R454); the request was renewed when the

- O. And did he indicate --
- A. -- I have explained to you, and he said, 'Yes, I do.'
- Okay.

- Q. Okay. And was he questioned at that time?
- A. Not in depth.
- Q. Okay.

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