# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDALL SCOTT JONES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 72,461

100

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA D. CICHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Ave. Daytona Beach, Fl 32014 (904)252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## Point I

The voluntariness of appellant's statement and subsequent confession turned on a question of credibility of the appellant and the two witnesses. The trial court's decision on the motion to suppress and his credibility determination come to this court with a presumption of correctness and this should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Appellant's several signed written waivers are sufficient to meet the stricter test of voluntariness. Even without the confession, the evidence against Jones is sufficient to support the convictions.

## Point 11

Whether the sexual battery occurred before or after the death of Kelly Perry is a fact to be determined by the jury based on their own credibility determination of the evidence. Even if this court concludes Kelly Perry was dead at the time of the rape, the act of appellant is sufficient to support a finding of attempted sexual battery and an erroneous conviction for sexual battery is harmless to the sentencing phase because the jury was instructed by the court that it could only consider the specifically enumerated statutory aggravating factors in arriving at its sentencing recommendation.

## Point III

Appellant's sentence of death was not unconstitutionally imposed as a result of the failure of appellant's jury to

unanimously determine the applicability of at least one statutory aggravating circumstance to the murders. This court has held that a defendant possesses no constitutional right to be sentenced by a jury and has previously rejected issues similar to this one.

# Point IV

Any error in the trial court's instructing the jury on the aggravating circumstance that the murders were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, is harmless where the judge is the ultimate sentencing authority and he rejected that factor as one that should not go into the weighing process.

#### Point V

The evidence clearly showed that Jones murdered the victims in order to facilitate his taking of Brock's truck, a thing of monetary value. This supports the applicability of aggravating factor that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain.

If this factor was stricken, that the murders were committed during the commission of a robbery/burglary could be substituted. Although both factors are supported by the evidence, improper doubling keeps the second one from being considered in the weighing process now.

## Point **VI**

The murders here were not an unplanned occurrence arising during the course of another felony. The evidence showed that Jones made a deliberate plan to execute the victims and his own admission was that the victims were killed "for no reason at all." That he discussed the killing of the truck's occupants with his friend as the victims they slept, shows appellant had ample time to reflect on the consequences of his actions, and such supports a finding that the murders were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

#### Point **VII**

The possibility that the trial court would impose consecutive sentences should the jury return a recommendation of life has nothing to do with the circumstances of the crimes or appellant's character and is outside the scope of penalty phase argument. The court did not err in steering defense counsel back on track.

Appellant's objection to the form of the sentencing verdict sheet was not preserved for appellate review .

#### Point **VIII**

Appellant's constitutional attacks on his death sentences were not preserved for appellate review and there has been no showing of fundamental error. Thus, the issue should be deemed waived. Furthermore, this claim has previously been rejected by this court as being without merit. It should be concluded that appellant's sentences of death were constitutionally imposed.

### Point IX

The established rule against having members of the victim's family identify the victim at trial was not violated where the family members in this case did not identify the bodies of the victims and their testimonies were directed to other relevant matters. The nature of the family member's testimony did nothing to unfairly prejudice the appellant.

## Point X

The trial court's refusal to permit defense counsel to withdraw when it was discovered that his office was also representing a state witness on unrelated matters did not constitute reversible error. Dual representation of Jones and the witness did not create an actual conflict of interest and therefore, no prejudice resulted.

# Point XI

Both the inquiry of the juror and the peremptory challenges took place at side-bar with both counsels present and just a few feet from the appellant. It is not clear from the record, though, that appellant was not at side-bar during these discussions, but it is evidenced that defense counsel was given full opportunity to discuss the proceedings with appellant before the peremptory challenges were made. Therefore, the fundamental fairness of the proceedings were not thwarted by Jones' not being at the bench.

#### Point XII

The objection to the admission of the DNA evidence made at trial and on appeal is without merit. The court did not err in

refusing to exclude relevant, scientific evidence on the ground that it was too new. The testimony of the qualified expert in the field was that the DNA "fingerprint" process had been admitted as evidence in other courts and that it utilized time-tested theories and procedures. The trial court did not err in finding the evidence to be reliable.

### Point XIII

Any error in the state's witness or the prosecutor commenting on appellant's lack of remorse forhaving committed the crimes was harmless since it was not considered by the judge in aggravation and was accorded no weight in the sentencing process. Evidence which might arguably show lack of remorse should be admissible to refute the existence of mitigating factors since evidence of remorse is admissible to establish a mitigating circumstance. The state presented the evidence for that purpose here, and the court did not err in refusing to grant a mistrial, which is reserved for the most extreme circumstances.

#### Point XIV

Any error in the trial court's not attaching appellant's fingerprints to the judgments of guilt for first-degree murder is harmless, and vacation of the judgments and sentences is not warranted.

#### Point XV

Separate convictions and punishments for first-degree murder, shooting into an occupied vehicle, burglary of a conveyance with an assault, and armed robbery do not violate the double jeopardy clause and would be permissible under both

<u>Carawan</u> and <u>Blockburger</u>. Furthermore, <u>Carawan</u> was not the law at the time the crimes were committed here, and it is questionable as to whether <u>Carawan</u> has a sound basis now in view of the recent legislative amendment. All convictions and sentences imposed upon appellant should be affirmed.

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS OBTAINED FROM THE DEFENDANT AFTER HE EXPRESSLY WAIVED HIS RIGHTS.

"The preponderance of the evidence standard has been generally applied in Florida cases where the voluntariness of a defendant's confession is at issue. See, McDole v. State, 283 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1973)." Balthazar v. State, 13 F.L.W. 2582 (Fla. 4th DCA November 23, 1988). Due to the conflicting testimony given by the and officers Hord and Stout, the appellant question voluntariness came down to a question of credibility to be judged in light of the uncontested evidence. The issue of credibility was resolved against the appellant at the suppression hearing (R The settled rule governing the review of a trial court's decision on a motion to suppress is that the ruling "comes to this court with a presumption of correctness [and] . . . a reviewing court should not substitute its judgment for that of a trial court, but, rather, should defer to the trial court's authority as a fact finder." Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1987).

At the suppression hearing, appellant did not dispute that he was read his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) at least four times (R 450). On appeal, appellant claims that following his arrest in Mississippi and his receipt of the Miranda warning, he "exercised his right to remain silent and asked for an attorney." He quotes Trooper Haldeman's testimony at trial regarding appellant's response after receiving the Miranda warning in support of his claim and emphasizes the statement, "He

didn't say anything." (R 1330) Appellee would concede that that was an exercise of appellant's right to remain silent at the time, but it certainly did not equate with asking for an attorney. also cannot be construed as an unequivocal invocation of his right not to talk to the authorities at any time in the future. fact, appellant subsequently executed a written waiver of rights form (R 1332,1337-1338) before being questioned briefly by Mississippi authorities (R 1331). Since appellant testified that he requested an attorney when arrested in Mississippi, but could not refute the signed waiver, and the arresting officers from Mississippi did not testify at the suppression hearing, Judge Perry reserved jurisdiction on the matter so that any statements made by the appellant to the Mississippi police could still be introduced as evidence at trial subject to the state's laying the proper "predicate or foundation for it." (R 465) Statements made Lieutenant Edwards by appellant to in Mississippi subsequently elicited by defense counsel upon cross-examination at trial (R 1339). Interestingly, defense counsel never questioned either of the Mississippi officers at trial as to whether appellant ever invoked his right to counsel.

Appellant was arrested at 10 or 10:30 p.m. on a Sunday night and was first approached by Detective Hord and Lieutenant Stout early in the evening of the next day (R 398). They were not informed of any request by Jones for counsel, and if any question of that arose in their minds, the already executed waiver of rights form would have tended to provide the answer. Appellant voluntarily executed a consent to search the trailer in which he

had been residing in Mississippi (R 1340-1341). It is significant that appellant never testified at the suppression hearing that he was coerced in any way by the Mississippi authorities into signing either of these waivers.

In assessing the validity of a waiver, the courts analyze the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation. The most important factors in the analysis include the suspect's education and age, the presence or absence of an explicit waiver, language barriers, the suspect's familiarity with the American criminal justice system, the suspect's physical condition, and the time between the reading of the Miranda warnings and the actual questioning. The totality of the circumstances here are: Randall Jones was an adult (19 years old) and had spent time in the military (R 1723); there was no evidence that he was a high school dropout and Rhonda Morrell testified at the trial that she went to school with Jones (R 1103,1105); it was discovered through the administration of IQ tests that appellant had an above-average intelligence; Dr. Krop testified that appellant had "high average intellectual abilities, possibly even higher than that "(R 1719); and Jones' testimony at the suppression hearing demonstrated an excellent command of the English language. Appellant signed more than one explicit waiver of his rights (R 1332, 1337-1338, 1340), United States v. Hack, 782 F.2d 862,866 (10th Cir.), cert denied 106 S.Ct. 2921 (1986)(waiver valid when defendant signed two different Miranda waivers); United States v. Bernard S., 795 F.2d 749,753 n.4 (9th Cir. 1986) (written waiver stronger evidence of voluntariness of waiver than oral waiver); and he claimed enough

knowledge of the criminal justice system to offer a criticism of the way the Mississippi authorities gave the Miranda warning (R 454). There was no indication that appellant was denied food or sleep. See, Aldridge v. Marshall, 765 F.2d 63,65-66 (6th Cir. 1985). All evidence indicates that the actual questioning took place immediately after the reading of the Miranda warnings although there was a possibility that appellant's second statement made to the Putnam County officers was made following an abbreviated Miranda warning. (R 404-405,423,447). However, appellant testified that when asked if he remembered those rights from the day before, he said "Yes." (R 447)

Contrary to all appellant's assertions that he requested counsel and that he was coerced into giving his statements, he testified that he was the one who initiated the conversation (which included his confession) on the way to Palatka, that he voluntarily pointed out the location of the crime at the Rodman Dam area (R 452-453), that he understood his rights the entire time, and that he voluntarily signed the transcription of his second statement back at the jail (R 453-454). Lieutenant Stout did testify that when he returned to the interrogation room, he heard Jones and Detective Hord mention the word attorney, but it was not in the context of asking for one. (R 94, 95, 400-401). Detective Hoard elaborated on this conversation and explained that he was typing appellant's dictated statement, he heard something that he thought was a request for counsel, so he stopped and looked at Mr. Jones, who related that "no, he was not asking for an attorney that that was not what he said."

Detective Hoard also testified that at some point he told Jones that any attorney that Jones would speak with would tell him to stop talking to the police (R 419-420). That would have likely been the case, and such advice from the officer surely would have resulted in Jones invoking his right to remain silent unless he truly desired to waive it.

Jones testified at the suppression hearing that when Hord and Stout first came to see him at the jail in Mississippi, Hord explained his Miranda rights to him (R 442). Jones confirmed Hord's testimony as to his advice regarding an attorney would tell him to do, and stated that Hord also told him, "If you want to make a deal with the state attorney, or along those lines, he said, the only way to do that would to be totally honest with me." (R 443). Jones concluded, "After some considerable time, yes, I decided to talk to him.'' (R 443) That is when Jones gave the statement blaming the killings on his friend Chris.

Detective Hord had testified before Jones did that Jones' mention of an attorney was not in the context of requesting one to represent him (R 415),

His concerns at that point were: Was there a possibility of a deal being made on his behalf to testify, to name names with regard to this investigation.

I explained to him that those particular type of arrangements had to be made by attorneys, both the state attorney and any defense counsel that he may have.

But, again, he made no request for an attorney. (R 417)

Jones was brought before Judge C.C. Robertson (R 427, 445) before the Putnam County authorities transported Jones back to Florida. Detective Hord testified that he was told there had been no demand for an extradition hearing in front of a judge and that if Jones signed a form, they could leave with him. Hord stated that they requested a hearing for Jones "with a person who could at least discuss his options with him had he any questions. As a courtesy to us, Judge Robertson was contacted and consented to officiate over the signing of the document." \* \* \* "Just trying to make sure that he [Jones] had every opportunity to have assistance available to him if he desired it." (R 428)

Based on the totality of the circumstances and the credibility of the witnesses, the court determined Jones' waiver of his rights to be voluntary and, therefore, he denied the Motion to Suppress (R 466). Appellant has demonstrated no abuse of the court's discretion in its credibility determination. Consequently, no reversible error has been demonstrated in the admission of appellant's statement of the 17th and his confession of the 20th.

If by some chance, appellant's first statement to Hord is found to be involuntary and suppressible, the admission of such was harmless since Jones did not confess to having committed the murder in that first statement and it was basically cumulative of the second statement, which was properly admitted because it was

There is no proof that the Mississippi police violated the Mississippi law, requiring an offender to be taken before a proper officer without delay, especially in view of the fact that Jones was arrested after 10 on a Sunday night (R 436, 440)

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